THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-42-03726
Appellate Case No. 2019-001382

Raquel Martinez, Employee,

Respondent,

v.

Spartanburg County, Employer, and
S.C. Association of Counties
Self-Insurance Fund, Carrier,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

L. Brenn Watson (Bar No. 71198)
Zachary M. Smith (Bar No. 78754)
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
325 Rocky Slope Road, Suite 201
Greenville, South Carolina 29607
(864) 527-3292
Attorneys for Appellants

Other Counsel of Record:

J. Kevin Holmes, Esquire
David T. Pearlman, Esquire
The Steinberg Law Firm
P.O. Box 9

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DOES THE RECORD CONTAIN SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE APPELLATE PANEL'S DECISION THAT THE CONDITIONS OF MARTINEZ'S EMPLOYMENT ON APRIL 4, 2005 WERE NOT UNUSUAL OR EXTRAORDINARY?
- II. DOES THE RECORD CONTAIN SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE APPELLATE PANEL'S DECISION THAT THE CONDITIONS OF MARTINEZ'S EMPLOYMENT ON APRIL 4, 2005 DID NOT PROXIMATELY CAUSE HER MENTAL BREAKDOWN?
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT EXCEED ITS SCOPE OF REVIEW UNDER SECTION 1-23-380 IN ITS ORDERS FROM FEBRUARY 25, 2009; DECEMBER 3, 2015; AND JULY 15, 2019?
- IV. IS THIS COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF S.C. CODE SECTION 1-23-390 IN BONE V. U.S. FOOD SERVICE, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013), OR SECTION 1-23-390 ITSELF, UNCONSTITUTIONAL BY DENYING WORKERS' COMPENSATION DEFENDANTS EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS AS GUARANTEED BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Raquel Martinez ("Martinez") was employed as a Master Deputy Forensic Investigator by the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department. (R. p. 239, lines 23-24). On April 21, 2006, Martinez filed a Form 50 alleging she had suffered a mental injury as a result of investigating an accident in which a Greenville County Deputy Sheriff had accidentally backed over and killed his two-year-old daughter. (R. p. 226). On May 12, 2006, Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department and its carrier, the South Carolina Association of Counties Self-Insurance Fund (collectively "Appellants") filed a Form 51 denying, *inter alia*, that Martinez suffered a compensable mental injury as a result of any unusual or extraordinary condition of her employment. (R. p. 227).

A hearing was held before Commissioner G. Bryan Lyndon on September 6, 2006. (R. p. 228). At the hearing, Martinez alleged that while performing an investigation on April 4, 2005, as part of her duties with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department, she encountered an

unusual and extraordinary condition of her employment, which subsequently led to her mental breakdown and hospitalization. (R. p. 234). Martinez further alleged she was permanently and totally disabled and requested a lump sum payment of the award. *Id.* Appellants contended at the hearing that Martinez did not suffer a compensable mental injury as a result of an unusual or extraordinary condition of her employment. (R. p. 235). Appellants asserted that Martinez was employed as a forensic investigator, that it was her job to investigate homicide and death cases, and that she was performing her regular job when she investigated the child's accidental death on April 4, 2005. (R. pp. 235-236). Appellants further contended Martinez's investigation of the child's death on April 4, 2005 was not the proximate cause of her mental condition and that her mental condition was caused by a myriad of personal factors unrelated to her work. (R. pp. 236-237).

On November 20, 2006, Commissioner Lyndon issued his Decision and Order finding, *inter alia*, that the investigation of the accident on April 4, 2005 was not an unusual or extraordinary condition of Martinez's employment, nor was the investigation the proximate cause of her mental condition. (R. p. 22). Within the statutory period, counsel for Martinez filed a Form 30, Request for Commission Review, setting forth grounds for review. (R. p. 690). Oral arguments were presented before an Appellate Panel on April 23, 2007. (*See* R. p. 24). On May 22, 2007, the Appellate Panel issued its Order unanimously affirming the Single Commissioner's Order in its entirety. (R. p. 26).

Thereafter, Martinez filed an appeal with the Spartanburg County Circuit Court.¹ (R. pp. 692-694). On February 25, 2009, Judge J. Mark Hayes, II, issued an Order holding that the Appellate Panel's Order lacked sufficient detail to enable the Court to determine whether those

¹ Since the alleged date of injury was prior to the July 1, 2007 amendment of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60 (2006), an appeal from the Commission was required to first be made to the circuit court.

findings were supported by substantial evidence. (R. pp. 29-30). In his Order, Judge Hayes specifically stated that “this Court is left to speculate if the proper analysis was applied by the Commission and whether the factual conclusions upon which the law was applied had a substantial basis in the record.” (R. pp. 35-36). As such, Judge Hayes reversed the Appellate Panel’s Order and remanded the case back to the Commission for additional findings of fact. (R. p. 45).

Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on March 16, 2009. (R. p. 695). On June 15, 2011, the Court of Appeals filed its Order reversing the decision of the Circuit Court.² Judge Williams, writing for the majority, concluded that the Appellate Panel’s Order was sufficiently detailed to enable appellate review and that the record contained substantial evidence to support the Commission’s decision that Martinez did not suffer an unusual or extraordinary condition of her particular employment on April 4, 2005. (R. pp. 50 & 55). Because the Court of Appeals concluded that there was substantial evidence that Martinez did not suffer an unusual or extraordinary condition in her particular employment, the majority did not address the issue of “proximate cause.”³ (R. p. 55). Martinez timely filed a Petition for Rehearing, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on October 6, 2011. (R. pp. 63-64).

On November 2, 2011, Martinez filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court, and the Petition was granted on February 7, 2013. (R. pp. 701-725; R. p. 65). The Supreme Court heard oral arguments on October 15, 2013. (*See* R. p. 66). On January 8, 2014, the Supreme Court filed its decision and held that pursuant to Bone v. U.S. Food

² (R. pp. 46-56); Martinez v. Spartanburg County, 394 S.C. 224, 715 S.E.2d 339 (Ct. App. 2011), *vacated*, 406 S.C. 532, 753 S.E.2d 436 (2014).

³ In a separate opinion, Chief Judge Few concurred with the majority’s holding that there was substantial evidence Martinez did not suffer an unusual or extraordinary condition in her particular employment, but he also opined that “the commission’s determination that the claimant failed to prove proximate cause is supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* at 239-240, 715 S.E.2d 347-348; (R. p. 62).

Service, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013), the circuit court's order was not a final judgment and therefore was not appealable.⁴ As such, the Supreme Court vacated the Court of Appeals' Order and remanded the case to the Commission for further proceedings. (R. p. 67).

Pursuant to the Commission's Administrative Order, filed August 15, 2014, the case was remanded to an Appellate Panel to take such action and enter an Order consistent with this Court's directive. (R. pp. 69-70). The Appellate Panel heard oral arguments on December 15, 2014. (R. p. 338). On February 24, 2015, the Appellate Panel issued its Decision and Order and noted:

Because the Circuit Court found that the Commission's Order lacked an "explicit statement of facts...sufficiently detailed to enable the reviewing Court to determine whether the findings are supported by the evidence," the Commission withdraws its previous Findings of Fact and hereby substitutes the following Findings of Fact for the Court's consideration.

(R. p. 75). The Appellate Panel again denied Martinez's claim and concluded Martinez failed to prove (1) that the work conditions on April 4, 2005 were unusual or extraordinary in comparison to her normal conditions of employment and (2) that the investigation on April 4, 2005 was the proximate cause of her mental breakdown. (R. p. 115). The Appellate Panel issued ninety-nine detailed findings of fact to support its decision. (R. pp. 76-115).

Subsequently, on March 11, 2015, Martinez filed an appeal to the Spartanburg County Circuit Court. (R. p. 726). The case was again assigned to Judge J. Mark Hayes, II. On December 3, 2015, Judge Hayes entered an Order reversing the Appellate Panel and remanding the matter to the Commission. (R. p. 143). Judge Hayes ruled that *he had* established causation of the mental health condition as a matter of law in his previous Order and directed the Commission to find the same. Id.

⁴ (R. pp. 66-68); Martinez v. Spartanburg County, 406 S.C. 532, 753 S.E.2d 436 (2014).

On May 18, 2016, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (R. p. 740). On May 20, 2016, Martinez filed a Motion to Dismiss contending the Circuit Court's Order was interlocutory and not immediately appealable. (R. pp. 741-742). On May 31, 2016, Appellants filed a Return to the Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 743-761). Citing Bone,⁵ the Court of Appeals issued an Order on July 21, 2016 granting Martinez's Motion to Dismiss, and the case was subsequently remitted to the Commission.⁶ (R. p. 159).

On September 19, 2016, the Commission's Chairman issued an Order assigning the case to the Appellate Panel. (R. p. 160). After reviewing and reconsidering the entire record, as well as the instructions from Judge Hayes's December 3, 2015 Order, the Appellate Panel filed its third Decision and Order in this case on August 22, 2017.⁷ The Appellate Panel again concluded Martinez failed to prove she encountered unusual or extraordinary work conditions in her employment with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department on April 4, 2005. (R. pp. 164-191). The Appellate Panel specifically found Martinez's relationship with the father of the child-victim (whether by virtue that the father was a fellow law enforcement officer or otherwise) was insufficient to transform the condition of Martinez's employment on April 4, 2005 into the extraordinary and unusual. (R. pp. 169-171). In addition, the Appellate Panel found Martinez failed to prove that the accident investigation on April 4, 2005 proximately caused her mental breakdown. (R. p. 192). Instead, the Appellate Panel found her breakdown was proximately caused by multiple factors, including her "cousin's" death, the taking of Xanax followed by an abrupt cessation, her "overtaking" of Lortab, and her myriad of health issues. (R. p. 190).

⁵ Bone, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013)

⁶ Appellants filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Supreme Court on August 10, 2016, but the Petition was withdrawn and dismissed by the Supreme Court on August 15, 2016. (R. pp. 762-782).

⁷ The Appellate Panel initially issued a Decision & Order on August 4, 2017; however, a page was inadvertently excluded when it was served on the parties. As a result, the Appellate Panel vacated the August 4, 2017 Order and issued an Amended Decision & Order, dated August 22, 2017. (See R. p. 161; R. pp. 162-194).

On October 12, 2017, Martinez filed a Notice of Appeal and a Petition for Judicial Review with the Spartanburg County Circuit Court.⁸ (R. pp. 787-795). For a third time, the case was assigned to Judge J. Mark Hayes, II, who heard the matter on March 12, 2018. (R. pp. 196 & 205). On October 3, 2018, Judge Hayes entered an Order reversing the Appellate Panel's August 22, 2017 Order and remanding the matter back to the Commission. (R. pp. 204-205). Judge Hayes ruled that he had established causation of the mental health condition as a matter of law in his previous Order and directed the Commission to find the same. (R. pp. 201 & 204). He also ordered the Commission to find whether the horrific death of an infant run over by her police officer father with whom Martinez had a law enforcement relationship made the crime scene investigation unusual and extraordinary. (R. pp. 204-205).

Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP with the Circuit Court on October 12, 2018, and a hearing on the Motion was held on December 20, 2018. (*See* R. p. 207; R. pp. 796-807). On July 15, 2019, Judge Hayes issued an Order denying Petitioner's Motion with the exception of two grounds.⁹ (R. pp. 208-209). That same day, Judge Hayes filed his Amended Order again reversing the Appellate Panel's Order, ruling that he had established causation of the mental health condition as a matter of law in his previous Order, and directing the Commission to find the same. (R. pp. 217-218 & 220). He also ordered the Commission to find whether the horrific death of an infant run over by her police officer

⁸ Prior to appealing to the Circuit Court, Martinez filed a Motion for Rehearing with the Appellate Panel, which was denied. (*See* R. p. 195).

⁹ The two grounds from Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment that the Circuit Court granted were:

8. The Circuit Court erred in holding that Captain Denton and [Martinez] were the only witnesses who testified at the hearing, the error being that Ramon Martinez (Martinez's father) and Caridad Martinez (Martinez's mother) also testified at the hearing.

9. The Circuit Court erred by finding Captain Denton and [Martinez] were "credible," the errors being that (a) this finding exceeds the Circuit Court's scope of review under Section 1-23-380, S.C. Code Ann. (1976) and (b) the determination of witness credibility is strictly reserved to the Commission., Brown v. Peoplease Corp., 402 S.C. 476, 741 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 2013); O'Banner v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 319 S.C. 24, 459 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1995).

father with whom Martinez had a law enforcement relationship made the crime scene investigation unusual and extraordinary. (R. p. 221). Judge Hayes further admonished the Appellate Panel against failing “to follow the law and comply with [his] Order,” and he threatened the Appellate Panel with the use of his “powers... to punish for civil or criminal contempt...and to refer offending members of the Commission to the appropriate bodies for judicial or professional sanctioning” for the perceived failure by the Appellate Panel to conform with his Orders. (R. p. 219).

On August 12, 2019, Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals.¹⁰ (R. p. 808). On January 15, 2020, this matter was certified for review by the Supreme Court of South Carolina pursuant to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 204(b). (R. pp. 224-225).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) establishes the “substantial evidence” standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers’ Compensation Commission. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (Supp. 2007). In workers’ compensation cases, the Commission is the ultimate finder of fact. Hunter v. Patrick Const. Co., 289 S.C. 46, 47, 344 S.E.2d 613, 614 (1986); Ross v. American Red Cross, 298 S.C. 490, 492, 381 S.E.2d 728, 730 (1989). The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Appellate Panel. Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 535 S.E.2d 438 (2000). The findings of the Commission are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence. Etheredge v. Monsanto Company, 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2002); Medlin v. Upstate Plaster Serv., 329 S.C. 92, 495 S.E.2d 447 (1998). Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla; rather, it is evidence

¹⁰ Appellants also filed a Petition for writ of certiorari in this Court’s original jurisdiction on August 14, 2019. (See Appellate Case No. 2019-001388; R. pp. 811-855). On January 15, 2020, this Court issued an Order denying Appellants’ Petition. (R. pp. 222-223).

which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the agency. Lark at 135-36, 276 S.E.2d at 306-07. In applying a substantial evidence test, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, unless its findings or conclusions are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record. Friends of the Earth v. Public Service Comm'n of S.C., 387 S.C. 360, 692 S.E.2d 910 (2010).

Whether a causal connection exists between employment and an alleged injury is a question of fact for the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154, 159, 519 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1999). Where the evidence is conflicting, "the Commission's findings of fact are conclusive." Sharp, 336 S.C. at 160, 519 S.E.2d at 105; *See also*, Hoxit v. Michelin Tire Corp., 304 S.C. 461, 405 S.E.2d 407 (1991) ("Where there is a conflict in the evidence, either of different witnesses or of the same witnesses, the findings of fact of the Commission as triers of fact are conclusive."). Indeed, the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Tiller v. National Health Care Ctr., 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999); Clade v. Champion Laboratories, 330 S.C. 8, 496 S.E.2d 856 (1998). If reasonable minds could reach the conclusion reached by the Commission, the Commission's findings must be affirmed. McGuffin v. Schlumberger-Sangamo, 307 S.C. 184, 414 S.E.2d 162, 163 (1992).

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE APPELLATE PANEL'S ORDERS FINDING MARTINEZ'S INVESTIGATION ON APRIL 4, 2005 WAS NOT AN UNUSUAL OR EXTRAORDINARY CONDITION OF HER EMPLOYMENT ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Mental injuries caused solely by emotional stress are compensable if the emotional stimuli or stressors are incident to or arise from unusual or extraordinary conditions of employment. Powell v. Vulcan Materials Co., 299 S.C. 325, 384 S.E.2d 725 (1989). In order to recover workers' compensation benefits, a claimant must prove both:

- (1) that he was exposed to unusual and extraordinary conditions in his employment; and
- (2) that these unusual and extraordinary conditions were the proximate cause of his mental breakdown.

Frame v. Resort Services, Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 529, 593 S.E.2d 491, 496 (Ct. App. 2004).

Moreover, the requirement of "unusual or extraordinary conditions in employment" refers to the conditions of the particular job in which the injury occurs, not to the conditions of employment in general. Shealy, 341 S.C. at 458, 535 S.E.2d at 443. The standard to be applied is whether the work conditions at issue were unusual compared to the particular employee's normal strains. Id.

- A. At the accident investigation on April 4, 2005, Martinez performed her ordinary job duties in an ordinary manner as a forensic investigator with the Spartanburg County Sherriff's Department.

The event giving rise to Martinez's allegations occurred on April 4, 2005, when Greenville County Deputy Sheriff Anthony Johnson ("Johnson") accidentally backed his patrol car over his two-year-old daughter resulting in her death.¹¹ (R. p. 304, line 18-p. 305, line 3). Martinez, who was on duty as a Master Deputy Forensic Investigator when the accident

¹¹ Martinez did not witness the accident in question. (R. p. 278, lines 2-4).

occurred, was tasked with performing the investigation.¹² (R. p. 239, line 24; R. p. 243, line 4-p. 244, line 1). When questioned about the investigation she performed on April 4, 2005, Martinez testified numerous law enforcement and emergency personnel were already present when she arrived at the scene (R. p. 243, lines 9-13). Martinez and Captain Denton testified that Sheriff Chuck Wright was present, as well as probably 6-7 Spartanburg County deputies, 8-10 firefighters, 10 officers from the Greer Police Department, including the Police Chief, Captain Jolene Van Syl and Lt. Matt Hamby, the Greenville County Sheriff, several deputies from the Greenville County Sheriff's Department, and at least one ambulance. (R. p. 243, lines 9-20; R. p. 326, line 7-p. 327, line 16). Martinez's only knowledge of the accident when she arrived at the scene was that it involved a former Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department employee and it involved the death of a child. (R. p. 243, lines 20-23). Upon her arrival, she noticed Sheriff Wright in the garage with another person, who was very distraught. (R. p. 244, lines 12-16). Martinez could not identify the person in the garage with Sheriff Wright, but fellow officers told her it was Johnson. (R. p. 244, lines 16-21). The Sheriff spent 20-30 minutes in the garage talking with Johnson. (R. p. 244, lines 22-24). The other officers stayed away from the garage, and Martinez never talked with Johnson at the scene. (R. p. 245, lines 1-2).

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