THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jul 02 2020

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

J Mark Hayes II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2017-CP-42-03726
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001382

Raquel Martinez, Employee, Respondent,

-v.-

Spartanburg County, Employer,
and South Carolina Association
of Counties, Self-Insurance Fund, Appellants.

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

J. Kevin Holmes
David T. Pearlman
THE STEINBERG LAW FIRM, L.L.P
61 Broad Street
Post Office Box 9
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 720-2800

and

Chadwick D. Pye
CHDWICK D. PYE, L.L.C.
Post Office Box 6346
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304
(864) 583-5658

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

There is nothing in the record which this Court can find to support the factual conclusion that investigating the death of a child of a former Sheriff’s deputy’s child was not unusual or extraordinary. Again, the [Appellant] called no witnesses at the hearing. [Martinez] and [Captain] Denton were the only witnesses to testify on the subject and their testimony does not support Finding of Fact 14.

(R. 36). The Circuit Court ruled the Commission's decision was affected by an error of law and not supported by the substantial evidence on the whole record under Sections 1-23-350(5)(d) and (e) and remanded the claim to the Commission. (R. 45).

There was an appeal to the Court of Appeals followed by a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari granted by this Court before the appeal was remanded as interlocutory under *Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2012). It was almost six years before Martinez' claim was back before the Commission. An Appellate Panel of the Commission heard oral arguments and the Circuit Court took note of the following colloquy between Commissioner Barden and Appellants' former attorney:

MR. KALE: Okay. May it please the panel. First, let me address Judge Hayes' order and what it requires or implies. And I would cite you to the very bottom sentence of page nine. He says, this court is left to speculate if the proper analysis was applied by the commission and whether the factual conclusions upon which the law was applied has a substantial base in the record. If he says that the record is not sufficient findings of fact that would allow him to do a judicial review, then how can we [accept] all of this other analysis as being a proper judicial review when he says he can't make it. And that's what I have a problem with, with Judge Hayes. Judge Hayes, I think, is clear from his order what he wanted to do in this case.

COMMISSIONER BARDEN: Right, right.

MR. KALE: And the fact is he's having his cake and eating it too.

COMMISSIONER BARDEN: By saying he has to speculate or he can only speculate, but then ---

MR. KALE: And then he tells us -- he's supposedly telling the commission where they went wrong. So I think it's very clear from his order that the remand is to get sufficient findings of fact that would support judicial review. And is not any kind of mandate that you have follow his -- anything else that's in his order. But let me also, if I may --

COMMISSIONER BARDEN: Do you think that we are bound by his -- they're a couple of things in here I don't ---

MR. KALE: I do not think you're bound by anything he puts in the order, because he has already prefaced that he's remanding it

because are insufficient findings of fact, and he would have to speculate as to what the findings of the commission were and what the conclusions of the commissioner were. So I don't think that you're bound by anything that is in his order. (*Emphasis added*)

(R. 352 - 353). The Appellate Panel agreed it was not bound by the Circuit Court Order, ignored it, and issued a new forty-six-page decision again denying Martinez' claim. (R. 71 - 116).

In Case No.: 2015-CP-42-2015, the Circuit Court began his Order by observing judicial review is guaranteed by Article 1, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution as a check on the administrative adjudication of private rights. (R. 121). "After a remittitur is sent down from an appellate court, the [agency] acquires jurisdiction to enforce the judgment and take any action consistent with the appellate court ruling." *Mullen v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Beach Club*, 313 S.C. 412, 438 S.E.2d 248 (1993); *Christy v. Christy*, 317 S.C. 166, 452 S.E.2d 1 (S.C. App. 1994). "Matters decided by the appellate court cannot be reheard, reconsidered, or relitigated, even under the guise of a different form." See: 5 C.J.S., Appeal and Error, § 975(a) (1993). (Circuit Court Order dated 12/3/15, p. 5). The Circuit Court clarified it "did not have a problem determining what the facts were, it had a problem determining whether the proper legal standards for compensability had been applied to the facts." (R. 121). "While this Court did not intend to substitute its judgement for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence or to substitute its findings of fact for those of the Commission, it did intend for the Commission to consider the testimony of the only witnesses who testified, quoted by this Court in its prior Order..." (R. 132). The Circuit Court found:

Under the guise of making finding of fact, however, the Appellate Panel did not include any of the quoted testimony supporting compensability. Not only did the Commission ignore the testimony quoted by this Court, it ignored the case law on compensability cited by this Court. This Court cited six cases addressing compensability of mental injuries under the Workers' Compensation Act. Only three of the cases were cited by the Appellate Panel and none of them were cited for the reasons they were cited by this Court. Ignoring the evidence quoted by this Court and the case law cited by this Court on the issue of compensability is not conducting further proceedings consistent with this Court's Order; but, rather, constitutes an arbitrary or capricious disregard of the mandate from this Court.

(R. 133). The Circuit Court then reviewed the historical development of the substantial evidence on the whole record standard first adopted by the United States Congress when it enacted Federal Administrative Procedures Act in 1946. *Compare: Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB*, 305 U.S. 197, 59 S. Ct. 206, 83 L.Ed. 126 (1938) (substantial evidence) with *Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB*, 340 U.S. 474, 71 S.Ct. 456, 95 L.Ed 456 (1951) (substantial evidence on the whole record). The importance of the new standard was discussed by Supreme Court Justice Frankfurter:

Whether or not it was ever permissible for courts to determine the substantiality of evidence supporting a Labor Board decision merely on the basis of the evidence which in and of itself justified it, without taking into account contradictory evidence or evidence from which conflicting inferences could be drawn, the new legislation definitely precludes such a theory and bars its practice. The substantiality of evidence must take into account whatever in the record fairly detracts from its weight.

Id., 340 U.S. at 487 – 488. The Circuit Court ruled the substantial evidence on the whole record standard was the standard adopted by the South Carolina Legislature when it enacted Section 1-23-380(5)(e) of the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act and is consistent with South Carolina case law holding, “[t]he

substantial evidence required to support a finding is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action.”

Etheredge, supra.; Gibson, supra. The Circuit Court ruled:

By ignoring the uncontested testimony from the only witnesses who testified, the Appellate Panel blindly viewed the evidence from only one side of the case. The substantial evidence on the whole record established that these officers did in fact know each other, served together, and backed each other up in the line of duty. When this Court considers all the testimony, including the testimony quoted above that was ignored by the Appellate Panel, it cannot conscientiously find the Appellate Panel’s findings on compensability are supported by substantial evidence on the whole record.

(R. 140 - 142).

The Circuit Court felt it was necessary to distinguish this Court’s holding in *Bentley v. Spartanburg County*, 398 S.C. 418, 730 S.E.2d 296 (2012), decided after its prior Order. The Circuit Court noted the police officer in that case who accidentally shot a suspect knew he could be required to use deadly force, was trained on the use of deadly force, and was authorized by departmental policy to use deadly force. The Circuit Court found there was no evidence Martinez knew she could be called upon to investigate violent deaths involving persons she knew, was trained how to perform such investigations, and there was no departmental policy requiring her to perform such an investigation. The Circuit Court further noted the investigation of the violent death of someone she knew was not just a rare occurrence, it was the only time in Captain Denton’s and Martinez’ combined forty-eight-years of law

enforcement experience it had ever happened. Finally, the Circuit Court noted Officer Bentley shot an unknown suspect, not a friend and fellow police officer. (R. 142 - 143).

To avoid any further misunderstanding, the Circuit Court's second remand Order contained specific instructions on compensability:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Appellate Panel's new findings on compensability are reversed and the claim is remanded to the Commission with the specific instruction that ignoring the undisputed testimony quoted by this Court and the case law supporting compensability cited by the Court is not conducting further proceedings consistent with this Court's prior Order and constitutes an arbitrary and capricious abuse of discretion under § 1-23-380(5)(f); and

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Appellate Panel's new findings of fact on compensability that Deputy Martinez and Officer Johnson did not have a law enforcement relationship are reversed because they are not supported by substantial evidence on the whole record under § 1-23-380(5)(e).

(R. 143).

With the dismissal of another interlocutory appeal to the Court of Appeals and the withdrawal of a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, it would be another year and half before Martinez' claim was back before the Commission for a second time following judicial review. This time the Appellate Panel, without oral argument, deliberately ignored the Circuit Court's specific instructions and reissued a nearly identical decision. (R. 162 - 194). In Case No.:2017-CP-42-3726, the Circuit Court's Order cut right to the chase:

Despite this Court's clear and specific instructions, the Appellate Panel disregarded this Court's Order a second time and reissued an almost identical Decision and Order ... again ignored the

testimony of the witnesses who testified quoted by this Court, made the same flawed finding Deputy Martinez had no law enforcement relationship with Officer Johnson this Court found was clearly erroneous based on the substantial evidence on the whole record, and failed to make a ruling whether the horrific death of the infant child run over her law enforcement father with whom Deputy Martinez had a law enforcement relationship made the crime scene investigation extraordinary and unusual.

(R. 216). The Circuit Court railed, “[Martinez] has been denied due process of law, denied a final Decision and Order of the Commission that complies with the previous Orders of this Court for eight and a half years.” (R. 216 - 217). The Circuit Court reversed the Commission’s Decision but again, out of deference to the Commission, remanded the claim. The Circuit Court admonished the Commission, however, its third remand “should not be interpreted to suggest this Court is powerless to enforce compliance with its Order” and reminded the Appellate Panel of its power to punish for civil or criminal contempt, to award costs including attorney’s fees, and to refer offending members of the Commission to the appropriate bodies for judicial or professional sanctioning. (R. 219 - 220).

The Circuit Court did not reverse the Commission’s decisions on compensability solely on the grounds its decision was not supported by the substantial evidence on the whole record. The Circuit Court also reversed the Commission’s decisions as affected by an error of law because the Commission focused on the usual and ordinary conditions of Martinez’s employment to the exclusion of the unusual and extraordinary conditions she encountered on November 4, 2005 and as arbitrary because the Commission deliberately refused to consider the testimony of the only witnesses who testified on compensability or the case law cited by the

Circuit Court. Appellants fail to address these alternative grounds for reversal and, therefore, they stand as the law of the case. *Ion L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000); *Portman v. Garbade*, 337 S.C. 186, 190–91, 522 S.E.2d 830, 832–33 (S.C. App. 1999); *In re: Morrison*, 321 S.C. 370, 468 S.E.2d 651 (1996) (ruling which is not contested on appeal is the law of the case). This Court should affirm the Circuit Court's rulings the Commission's decisions were affected by an error of law and arbitrary under Section 1-23-380(5)(d) and (f) not argued in Appellants' brief.

If this Court undertakes to address the single ground argued by Appellants in Question I of their brief, that this Court should reverse the Circuit Court because the Commission's decision was supported by substantial evidence, this Court should begin by ruling the standard is not substantial evidence but substantial evidence on the whole record. This is a critical distinction when the error articulated by the Circuit Court was the Commission's deliberate and repeated failure to consider the testimony of the only witnesses who testified about the conditions of Martinez' employment on the date in question and the affect they had upon her. When the Circuit Court considered the omitted testimony, it found it could not conscientiously find the Commission's decision on compensability was supported by the substantial evidence on the whole record.

In law, as it is in life, unless all the evidence is considered, the decision reached may be wrong. The evidence intentionally omitted by the Commission changes everything. This Court should not countenance the Commission's deliberate failure

to consider the testimony of the only witnesses who testified about compensability. This Court should affirm the Circuit Court's rulings the Commission's findings on compensability were affected by an error of law and arbitrary as the law of the case and as not supported by the substantial evidence on the whole record under Sections 1-23-380(5)(d), (e), and (f).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING CAUSATION WAS ESTABLISHED AS A MATTER OF LAW BASED ON THE UNANIMOUS OPINIONS OF THE MEDICAL EXPERTS.

Appellants argue in Question II of their brief that this Court should reverse the Circuit Court because Martinez failed to prove the unusual and extraordinary conditions of her employment were the proximate cause of her mental breakdown. In support of this argument that the conditions of the employment must be "the" proximate cause of a mental injury, the Commission and Appellants reliance on *Nawa v. Wachenhut Corp.*, 288 S.C. 250, 341 S.E.2d 800 (S.C. App. 1986) is misplaced. *Nawa* did not involve a mental injury but a fatal stroke during sexual intercourse. The Court of Appeals in affirming the Commission and Circuit Court in *Nawa*, noted the testimony of a cardiologist that the rupturing of an aneurysm is most commonly associated with sexual intercourse and the testimony of a physician that "most probably" the employee would not have suffered the stroke had he not been engaging in sexual intercourse. The Commission and Appellants reliance on *Shealy, supra.*, is also misplaced. In *Shealy* the issue of whether the aggravation of a pre-existing mental condition is compensable was not preserved for appellate review. *Shealy, supra.*, 535 S.E.2d at 444 - 445. The Circuit Court from which the appeal was taken

found there was an absence of any medical opinion the stress causing Shealy's disability was work related. *Shealy v Aiken County*, No. 96-CP-02-1181, 1997 WL 34881021 (S.C.Com.Pl. July 21, 1997). No medical evidence in either case supported causation and are distinguishable because in the present case it was the unanimous opinions of the medical experts that the conditions of Martinez' employment on November 4, 2005 caused or contributed to her mental injury.

Although the issue of whether the aggravation of a pre-existing mental condition was compensable was not preserved in *Shealy*, it was preserved in the latter case of *Doe, supra.*, in which this Court ruled:

The only evidence of causation is that Claimant's mental injury was caused by her stress at work as stated by Dr. Lowe. Moreover, a history of pre-existing depression does not preclude workers' compensation benefits for a mental-mental injury.

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